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Debra Hanania Freeman is the spokeswoman for Lyndon H. Again, immediately following the nomination of John
Kerry, Lyn announced the formation of the LaRouche PAC;LaRouche, Jr. She gave this speech to the Schiller Institute/

ICLC conference on Feb. 20, in a panel with Jeffrey Steinberg he endorsed Kerry’s campaign, which, for those of us who
have been associated with Mr. LaRouche over the last dec-and Harley Schlanger.
ades, was an unprecedented move. It was particularly unprec-
edented, because at that time, Kerry wasn’t doing very well.Steinberg: . . . Many of you probably recall, that in Sep-

tember of last year, at the annual Labor Day conference, His campaign was somewhat without direction, he didn’t have
a clear message, and the Democratic Party simply was not inDebra Freeman, Harley Schlanger, and myself presented a

political battlefield report, on the state of the Presidential elec- very good shape. But, Lyn made very clear that his endorse-
ment was based, not so much on the positive qualities oftion campaign, the state of affairs inside the Democratic Party.

Since that conference, the U.S. political situation has gone Kerry, as it was on the fact that Kerry represented the only
viable potential against something that was just incrediblythrough a number of rather dramatic—I’d say revolution-

ary—changes. And this panel discussion this morning, is go- dangerous, for our country and for the world.
But, Lyn also made very clear, that we would have toing to present you with an overview of those developments.

The title of this session is “Bringing Back the Democratic transform the Democratic Party and the Presidential
campaign.Party of Franklin Delano Roosevelt.”. . .

Freeman: Thank you and good morning to all of you. Shifting the Focus of the Kerry Campaign
Now, when we met here, over that Labor Day weekend,As Jeff said, the last time that we met here—it’s really, in

some ways hard to imagine that it was less than six months Kerry’s campaign was as big a mess as it was immediately
following Boston. But something promising had occurred:ago. But, it was a Labor Day weekend conference. We had just

come out of a very significant intervention in the Democratic While we were meeting, there was a story that leaked in the
national press, that we knew more details of at the time, thatConvention. And I just want to remind people what the situa-

tion was during the course of that convention. We went in a shakeup had occurred inside the Kerry campaign. And that
the people who were previously running his campaign, peoplethere, with about 100 members of the LaRouche Youth Move-

ment. And we met a Democratic Party that was in complete who had been formerly associated with Sen. Edward Ken-
nedy, were being moved out of positions of power, and that,chaos. They had no platform to speak of. The convention

itself got more boring as it proceeded. And it was without in fact, former President Bill Clinton had intervened and had
moved in a team of people who had been referred to as “Clin-question the case, that the activity of the LaRouche move-

ment, the singing of the youth, and most importantly, the tonistas.” And that what we were going to see, was a very
different campaign.saturation of the city of Boston with Lyn’s Platform state-

ment, really became the basis for any legitimate discussion Now, I can tell you, from our perspective that that was a
positive move, and it was positive for a number of reasons:that went on there.
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But most importantly, was that Lyn has had a significant in-
fluence on the Clinton faction of the Democratic Party over
the course of the decade. And we knew that, if in fact, it was
Clintonistas running the Kerry campaign—well, it would be
wishful thinking to assume that they were going to do exactly
what Lyn said!—but that Lyn’s voice would be heard. It was
also extremely important, because, although Kerry had been
very open to us, and had probably performed best during the
course of the New Hampshire primary campaign, it was also
the case, that the Kennedy group inside the Kerry camp was

Debra Hananiagiving us a very hard time.
Freeman: “We have toNow, there were also complicating factors that occurred, do the equivalent, of

during the course of our conference. One complicating factor, rendering the Bush
was that President Clinton was diagnosed with a heart condi- Administration a lame-

duck administration.”tion that required surgery. That took him, a little bit, out of
the fray. And that was unfortunate. But, the fact of the matter
was, that we knew that he was in touch with Kerry; his people
were in place; and we had a day-to-day role in Kerry’s and what had to be offered to the population, was the question

on the table.campaign.
It was an extremely difficult situation. And a lot of that And the fact is, that Lyn intervened, and Lyn intervened

powerfully. Immediately following the convention that wedifficulty was caused by Kerry himself, because, rather than
doing what he should have done, which was to just move the had here over Labor Day, Lyn issued two critical statements:

One was “How to Campaign for Kerry,” and the other was,Kennedy guys out of there—because they were incompetent,
at best—he kept them there. And anyone who visited Kerry’s “Had I Not Been Excluded.” In those statements, Lyn made

very clear that the issue on the table, was the issue of the U.S.headquarters in Washington had the feeling that they were
entering an armed camp. There was one group on one side economy. And that Kerry was going to have to transform his

campaign and transform himself, and reach out to that vastand another group on the other side. And the debate over what
the focus of the campaign would be, really never stopped. portion of the U.S. population that, in fact, was not likely to

vote. And Lyn continued the theme that he had developed atThere were many people who thought—largely the Kennedy
grouping—who felt very strongly that the message of the that ICLC Labor Day conference: That we had to go out there,

and organize a landslide. That we weren’t organizing for acampaign should be an anti-war message.
Lyn intervened very forcefully, and made the point that “51% win” over Bush. That we had to mobilize the U.S.

population, but that in order to do that, you had to give peoplethe people who were against the war, were against the war!
They didn’t need any more convincing. And those people something to come out for; and that the Democratic Party was

going to have start acting like Democrats! That 80% of thewere likely to come out and vote. But, the problem that we
had, was that we were entering a Presidential campaign with U.S. population was unrepresented, and that it was a moral

obligation—not simply a campaign tactic—to representa Democratic Party that had been dormant for over five years.
The Democrats that we knew, had never recovered from the them.

And that was what we did, during the course of the Presi-atrocity of the Y2K Presidential election!
And it was really hard to tell the difference, between Dem- dential campaign, and we did not let up.

We didn’t have the forces to intervene everywhere in theocrats and Republicans. You still had a prevailing view, inside
the Democratic Party, that minorities were an unreliable con- nation. We would have, if we had had the forces—but we

didn’t. What we did, in coordination with like-minded peoplestituency, and that the people whom we had to focus on, were
the same people whom Al Gore focussed on in the Y2K elec- inside the Democratic Party, was to concentrate our efforts in

key places, where we knew we could make a difference, andtion. And, I remember being at an event where Terry McAu-
liffe spoke, and people challenged him, on what he planned places that we knew were critical to the outcome of the

election.on doing differently than had been done in the year 2000. And
what he said was, in the year 2000, we really concentrated on One place that became a showcase of our efforts, and the

efforts of the LaRouche Youth Movement, was the state ofSoccer Moms. And this time we’re going to broaden the net.
We’re going to reach out—to SUV Dads. Ohio. And it was indeed the case, that Ohio became the para-

digm for the nature of the national campaign. We were notAnd I started to get a stomach ache—as did many other
people! the only people organizing in Ohio, but there is no question,

that we had the decisive influence in the state.But, the whole question of not only how you win a cam-
paign, but what it is that needed to be done in our country, And not too long into the post-Labor Day campaign, the
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idea of organizing for a landslide began to catch on. But the
reason that it began to catch on, was because our intervention
on the ground, around the question of the U.S. economy and
around the question of returning the Democratic Party to the
principles of FDR, as Lyn defined them—as Lyn uniquely
defined them—was sufficient to inspire the people whom we
were reaching out to, and the people that they were reaching
out to.

We reissued Lyn’s Democratic Platform, which had been
previously been put out as a LaRouche in 2004 document;
we reissued it as an LPAC document. Lyn commissioned a
second pamphlet, which was called “It’s Still the Economy,
Stupid!” And that came out on Sept. 22. And we flooded the
nation with this material. The LaRouche Youth would not
compromise, on the key points of the campaign.

As we got close to the election, we knew that we had done
our job. As for John Kerry? Well, sometimes he performed

John Kerry campaigning in Ohio, May 2004. When he got out ofvery well. And sometimes, he performed very poorly. He
the circumscribed environment of the Senate and travelled around

made mistakes. But, the one thing that we knew, was that the country, he found out what the condition of the population
both John Kerry and John Edwards had been very seriously really was, and responded to it positively, with LaRouche’s input.
affected, dramatically affected, by our mobilization. They
also—and I think that in a certain sense, this was more the
case for Kerry, than it was for Edwards—Kerry was genuinely these two; but it also was extremely important in understand-

ing how far they were prepared to go.affected by what he saw when he campaigned across the
United States. John Kerry has been in the Senate for a long
time; and he’s rich, and he comes from Massachusetts. And, Suppressing and Stealing the Vote

And in the period immediately prior to Nov. 2, the factyou put all that stuff together—and I would have never said
it during the Presidential campaign, but it was true—he didn’t that they were engaged in a massive attempt to intimidate

likely Democratic voters, was inescapable. And part of thereally have a sensuous view of what the condition of the U.S.
population was. But, when he went out there and campaigned, problem, was that, while we had sufficiently mobilized one

section of the Democratic Party, the party as an institutionhe actually saw it. And because he’s a decent person, he re-
sponded to it. And the fact of the matter is, that the John Kerry was not prepared. And when Election Day came around, the

worst-case scenario really was borne out: Ohio became a na-who went to the polls on Nov. 2, was not the same John Kerry
whom we met at the convention just a couple of months tional spotlight, because it was so hotly contested. But, Ohio

was not the only place that voter suppression kicked in. Andearlier.
One of the things that had gone on in the period leading it was massive.

Looking at the situation today, and looking back, there isup to the election, in addition to the programmatic interven-
tion that Lyn repeatedly made, is that Lyn, consistently, was absolutely no question, that, had we conducted fair and honest

elections, had there not been a criminal attempt to keep peopletrying to make clear to the people that we were working with,
what they were up against. I think everybody remembers the from the polls, and had there not been significant and docu-

mentable irregularities at the polls on Election Day, Georgeeffect of Justin Frank’s book and Justin Frank’s interviews.1

And Lyn repeatedly made the point that when you were look- Bush would not be President of the United States, today.
The propaganda that you read in the aftermath of the elec-ing at Bush and Cheney, that what you were looking at was a

psychopath and a sociopath. And that that wasn’t hyperbole: tion, something that we exploded very effectively, and I’ll get
to that in a minute—but the propaganda that you read is thatIt was a clinical assessment of what we were dealing with!

And that was important on two counts: One, is that people George Bush will say, that he had a mandate going into this
election; that more people voted for him than any Presidenthad to understand the existential nature of the need to defeat
since—I don’t know who; whoever. (That doesn’t really
make for a good speech. You can’t say, “More people voted

1. Dr. Justin Frank, M.D., is a practicing psychoanalyst in Washington, D.C., for me than whoever.” But it was the case.) But it was also
and is on the faculty of the George Washington University Medical School. the case that more people voted for John Kerry, than had voted
He authored Bush on the Couch—Inside the Mind of the President, which

for any previous President. We had mobilized the population.was reviewed in EIR, Aug. 20, 2004. An interview with him appeared in the
In places like Ohio, people stood on line for hours, andsame issue, and another interview was in EIR, Feb. 4, 2005, following the

President’s State of the Union speech. hours, and hours, to cast their vote! The same was true in
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many other states—in Florida, in Pennsylvania, across the ried and stop screwing around! It would bring the AIDS rate
down significantly! There’s nothing wrong with monogamy!Midwest. We did mobilize people to come out and vote. And

the fact that we mobilized the numbers that we did, despite (I’m kidding—I always forget that I’m Lyn’s spokeswoman.)
I think one of the big ironies of this is something that—Ithe voter suppression, was startling.

But, the fact was, that it was not enough. It wasn’t enough don’t know how big a story this is outside the Beltway, but
inside the Beltway, one of the big scandals of the day, is theto overcome the voter suppression, and it was not sufficient

to deal with something that I think many people in the United role of this character Jeff Gannon, who’s—I mean you want
to talk about gay marriage; that’s a good reason why youStates did not calculate, which was the absolute insanity of

the U.S. population in certain areas. One of the things that the should make gay marriage legal! This guy was planted in the
White House press corps to pitch softballs to Bush. There’sBush crowd used to mobilize people were the churches. And

in many communities—and we have to be clear on this—this other stuff that could be said about him. But, one of the things
that came out, when he was exposed, was that not only waswas a campaign of raw fear. Because of the overall collapse

of many institutions in the United States, particularly in more he not a legitimate journalist, but he runs five gay porn sites!
They all have titles that would lead you to believe that they’rerural areas, the fact is that the church is still the principal

social institution. And the pressure, coming out of these fund- kind of “military newsletters.” And they are—you just have
to picture, remember those photos of Sly Stallone with theamentalist churches to vote for Bush, was enormous. There

was also a mixed message, coming out of many black bandoliers of bullets. Well, just picture him that way, not
wearing anything but the bullets! So, much for the great Chris-churches, and we should be honest about it. The Bush appara-

tus had poured billions of dollars, via the Faith-Based Initia- tian values of the Bush Administration.
tive, into black churches across the United States. And while
I didn’t get any word of any black churches mobilizing people LaRouche’s Crucial Nov. 9 Webcast

But, getting back to matters of importance: Anticipatingto vote for Bush, they were perhaps not as enthusiastic as they
might have been. that Lyn’s intervention would be critical regardless of who

won the election, we had already scheduled a webcast in
Washington, D.C. for Nov. 9. And it was actually at thatPost-Election Collapse

The fact is, the election was, until the wee hours of the point, that Lyn made an intervention, that I think determined
everything that has occurred since then. The fact was, as Imorning, too close to call. The next day, Kerry did concede

the election, against our advice and against the advice of Bill said, the Democratic Party was in very bad shape: Kerry had
already conceded, and was virtually in hiding at the time. AndClinton. But worse than Kerry’s concession, was the fact that

the Democratic Party was in a complete state of despair. when Lyn took the podium on Nov. 9, he was absolutely
combative and unequivocal. And he stepped forward into aPeople had worked hard for the election. But the fact

is, they started too late. And I think that probably the most leadership vacuum.
People who had fought valiantly during the course of theimportant reflection that day after the election, was the state-

ment that Lyn had put out on Sept. 11th, which was “Had I Presidential campaign, were nowhere to be found! The people
who were visible, were saying things that were stupid. LynNot Been Excluded.” If Lyn had not been excluded, if Lyn

had been permitted to participate in the Democratic debates, stepped forward, and Lyn made clear, that the voter suppres-
sion that had been carried out in the campaign was nothingif the Congressional Black Caucus had not acted like a bunch

of stupid prostitutes in that first debate that took place at less than a coup against the U.S. Constitution. And he was
absolutely emphatic on the point. I really can’t stress to peopleMorgan State [University], where they excluded Lyn, then

the fact is, that Lyn’s influence would have asserted itself enough, how important Lyn’s intervention was.
People who were upset about the voter suppression, wereearlier, and all the voter suppression in the world, would not

have allowed Bush a shot at the Presidency. screaming “vote fraud” at the time. And the fact is, that to
have proceeded on the question of vote fraud itself, wouldThe day after the election, people were talking crazy!

Some of the most combative people during the course of the have been a catastrophe: Because, while there were significant
irregularities, and while those irregularities were well-docu-campaign, people like James Carville, were going on national

TV saying crazy stuff! About how Democrats lost because mented, the fact of the matter is, that what we knew—and also
what John Kerry knew—was that you could not documentthey didn’t talk enough about “values,” and—. What “val-

ues”? I mean—you’re going to talk to me about George Bush sufficient irregularities, to change the outcome of the election.
There were also other tactical issues which were involved,and “values”? He has the values of a Nazi Stormtrooper! If

that had just been said directly and straightforwardly, very which is, that if you take up vote fraud, if you’re going to fight
for discrete votes in discrete areas, then you’re forced intoearly on, that would have been the end of the discussion about

“values.” No one is going to convince me, that George Bush state courts, and you’re arguing, not based on a fundamental
principle, but on a point of discretion. Lyn’s point, was thatbecame President because people were upset about gay mar-

riage. Hell! I’ll support gay marriage. They ought to get mar- what there was sufficient evidence of, was voter suppression,

EIR March 11, 2005 U.S. National Studies 35



a five-year Federal sentence, once someone is caught commit-
ting that crime. Simple vote fraud is more difficult to deal
with, but if you go at the Federal criminal violations—Federal
criminal violations—in terms of election tampering and in
terms of Voting Rights Act frauds, then you open up the whole
area. You have to investigate the whole territory in which
these crimes have been committed. Which means that the
entire question, the larger question, of the vote fraud, has to
be considered.”

And again, Lyn would not back off on this. Lyn continued
to charge that the Republicans had carried out a “not-so-cold
coup” against the Constitution. At the same time, Lyn identi-
fied that their willingness to tear up the Constitution in this
area, would also extend to other areas. And at that Nov. 9
webcast, Lyn identified what was a little-known fact, which
was Bush’s plans to rip off Social Security through privatiza-
tion, as the second major focal point of a mobilization that
was necessary to salvage the country. And Lyn, again, as-
serted over and over again, the danger that an insane second
Bush Administration posed.

And it was at that Nov. 9 webcast, that we put on the table
Lyndon LaRouche addresses a Washington webcast on Nov. 9, the facts of the rip-off that Bush was proposing. Now, I’m not
giving the moribund Democratic Party its marching orders: fight

going to go into the facts of the Social Security campaign.on the crucial Federal civil rights issue of voter suppression (not
But, it was on that day that Lyn kicked this effort off. And,vote fraud, an unwinnable fight); and counter the Bush

Administration’s drive to fascism by defeating Social Security literally within hours of Lyn’s statement, the fight was on.
privatization.

Congressmen Take on
Voter Suppression Fight

It took a few days for people to kind of gather themselves,that these were Federal offenses. And they were Federal of-
fenses, the penalty for which was jail time. And that, if in but the question of voter suppression became the battle of a

group within the Democratic Party that was prepared to fight.fact, we were going to maintain any credibility among our
constituents, that was the fight that had to be made. And Lyn Michigan Congressman John Conyers, who is the dean of the

Congressional Black Caucus, and who is also the rankingjust refused to back off.
You had two different views that we were dealing with: Democrat on the House Judiciary Committee, took the point

on this question. He and about a dozen other Democrats—One view, was among people who were well-meaning, but
just thought in the wrong way: They weren’t good strategic actually 11 other Democrats who served with him on the

House Judiciary Committee—sent a letter to Ohio Secretarythinkers; they weren’t good military leaders. And they were
talking “vote fraud.” And the fact is, it was a losing effort! of State Ken Blackwell, asking Blackwell to cooperate with

them in investigating irregularities that had occurred in theWe would have found ourselves counting chads, as we had in
the year 2000, and essentially you would have put yourself in Ohio election. Needless to say, Blackwell was not inclined

to cooperate.a situation, where, once again, you would have to deal with a
Supreme Court whose general inclination was clear. Congressman Conyers’ pleas to the Judiciary Committee

went unheeded, and it was very clear, both on the House sideBut, approaching it from Lyn’s standpoint, we were doing
something much different: One, it was something that actu- and the Senate side, that there was going to be no collegiality

in this new Congress. Democrats were denied a voice, at everyally could be documented, it was a fight that could be won. It
was also an issue that had to be resolved. Not because it would point. The Republicans engaged in a purge of their own ranks,

and it was made clear that no opposition would be tolerated.change the outcome of this election, but because it was critical
for all future elections. We began to hear talk of something that was called “the nu-

clear option.” On the Senate side, there were threats of rulesAnd it also was a point of principle.
Lyn also anticipated that telling the truth on this would changes to stop any potential filibusters.

And Conyers did something, which without question wasdrive Bush into a wilder frenzy, than he was already in. But,
what Lyn said, at the webcast—just to remind people—he borrowing a tactic that we had used repeatedly—and which

set the tone for much of what happened afterwards—whichsaid, “We have them dead to rights on violations of Federal
law, on Voting Rights Act violations. That is a crime. That’s is, Conyers said, that if the Judiciary Committee as a whole
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Gore and the Democratic Leadership Council refused to allow
Democratic Party platform hearings, we convened platform
hearings.

The success of that tactic in mobilizing the population
clearly impressed members of the Congress who were pre-
pared to fight. And it was interesting, because all previous
arguments that had been put forward—and many of you here
have been involved in lobbying; many of the legislators who
we work with have fought very hard for policy initiatives in
the House and in the Senate. And very often, the response
would be, people shrugging their shoulders, and saying,
“Look it’s not like I disagree with you. I happen to agree with
you, I happen to think you’re right, or I at least think this is
worthy of discussion. But, you know, we’re in the minority.
We don’t have the votes, there’s really nothing we can do
about it. So, we’ll just roll over, or bend over, and hope for lu-Rep. John Conyers (D-Mich.) chaired a de facto Congressional

hearing on the Ohio elections on Dec. 8, after the Republicans brication.”
failed to respond to Democrats’ request for an investigation of But there was none of that. There was none of that in
election irregularities and voter suppression. December of 2004. And what became clear to us, was that at

least on one level, Lyn had won the argument. And that the
Democratic Party that we were looking at, was not the same
Democratic Party that we had seen just a few months earlier.would not conduct an investigation, then the Democrats

would. And on Dec. 8, Conyers held what was called “a Con- And make no mistake about it: That was a result of Lyn’s
efforts. It was a result of an on-the-ground mobilization bygressional forum”—but it was a hearing. And what was put

on the table were volumes of evidence of voting irregularities, the LaRouche Youth Movement.
It also was a result of the intensity of the crisis. And of theof voter suppression, of voter intimidation. The LaRouche

Youth Movement played a very significant role in those hear- bare-knuckle willingness to impose a fascist policy, that was
emanating from Cheney and from Bush.ings. Conyers announced at the close of those hearings, that

the same group would travel to Ohio a few days later, to We continued to fight in this way. And there was no ques-
tion that, as our mobilization continued, the recognition thatconduct yet the next round of investigations.

Now, interestingly, the very same day that Conyers was Cheney and Bush were moving for a coup against the U.S.
Constitution, for a regime change in the United States, becameholding hearings in Ohio, we started to see action on the

Senate side of the U.S. Congress. Sen. Byron Dorgan, who more and more apparent. And the harder we fought, the more
they were drawn out.chairs the Senate Democratic Policy Committee, held a press

conference in the Capitol, in which he announced that Demo-
crats would act on their own to carry out their responsibility No Mandate for Bush

When the Electoral College met on Dec. 15, four states—of oversight and investigation, wherever and whenever Re-
publicans attempted to block Congress from carrying out their Massachusetts, Maine, Vermont, and California—took ac-

tion questioning the validity of the electoral process, andConstitutional responsibilities.
Now, some of you here remember, that when Lyn was in urged Congressional investigation. The Maine Electors

passed a resolution that said Maine’s four electoral votes arejail, and we were fighting to get him out of prison, and then
when he was out of prison, and we were fighting to expose meaningless, if our sister states cannot hold elections that are

fair, accurate, and verifiable.the political assassination bureau that operated inside the De-
partment of Justice, we tried to get the U.S. Congress to exer- And the pattern of voter suppression continued to be com-

piled, and it was astounding. There was no question, that incise its oversight responsibility. When they refused, we went
ahead and we did it without them: We convened a panel. In order to maintain the integrity of the electoral process in the

United States, in order to prevent a reflex reaction of despairour case, it was not a panel of Congressmen; it was a panel
that consisted of former members of Congress and state legis- and cynicism by U.S. citizens, that these Federal crimes had

to be presented, to a Joint Session of the U.S. Congress.lators, who essentially carried out a responsible action, where
the Congress was not prepared to do so. And we held hearings, Now, some of us have been there before. During the 2000

election and its aftermath, we mobilized for a challenge to theon Department of Justice misconduct—not simply in Lyn’s
case, but in many cases. And to this day, there are many people certification of Bush, based on two things: based on allega-

tions of vote fraud in Florida, but much more importantly,who still discuss those hearings.
We did the same thing during the Y2K election: When Al based on the fact that Bush had indicated his intention to
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The LaRouche Youth
Movement rallies on Capitol
Hill on Jan. 6, against
certification of the Presidential
election.

appoint John Ashcroft Attorney General of the United States. best one you’ve ever had. So, let’s fight and let’s take it back.
Let’s beat these guys on the question of Social Security, onAnd Ashcroft was on record, as having opposed critical com-

ponents of the U.S. Constitution. In fact, he had said publicly the question of voter suppression. Go for the gut, get them
out and show people you have the courage to fight. Andon more than one occasion, that he preferred the Confederate

Constitution, to the Federal Constitution. then, maybe—just maybe—they’ll have the courage to join
you in supporting the fight. I’m telling you today, that thatBut what happened in 2000, as people remember, was

that although we had run a very significant mobilization, we is our only chance.”
When we left that meeting, everything was still uncertain.weren’t strong enough to actually push the thing through. And

in 2000, although members of the Black Caucus got up, one The Democrats had possibilities—and when I say “the Demo-
crats” I mean the Democrats from Ohio and the Democratsafter the other, and challenged Bush’s right to the Presidency,

they didn’t have a Democratic Party behind them that was who had fought with John Conyers of the question of voter
suppression—they had possibilities of U.S. Senators whoprepared to fight. And they could not find a single U.S. Sena-

tor, who would actually endorse their insistence that a debate would join with them, but nothing was definite. And John
Kerry made the decision, not to attend the Joint Session, andbe conducted. The day before the certification of the Electoral

College vote was to be held [this year], Lyn did another meet- instead was touring the Middle East. Some people were tar-
getting Obama from Illinois, but he was a freshman Senator,ing in Washington, D.C. The stage was set for the greatest

battle that this nation had yet to face. There was a spark of and there were tactical reasons why it probably would not
have been best for him to be the lone Senator to stand infighting spirit among the people that we were working with,

but there was also still a great deal of demoralization. And the this fight.
The decision was made literally hours before the JointBush-Cheney Administration was becoming increasingly

nasty. Session of Congress convened. And on Jan. 6, when they did
convene, it was really clear: Lyn’s influence in the party wasBut once again, Lyn took the point. And Lyn’s message

in a very uncertain situation, rang out clearly. People from stronger now, than it had been four years ago. We had orga-
nized leading Democrats across the nation, to understand thatCapitol Hill asked him, how far it was wise to go. And Lyn

said, very clearly, “We are now at the point when the lower this was the point, where they had to either fight, or die. And
we knew, going into Jan. 6, that no matter what happened, we80% of our people are about to lose everything. They are

about to lose it all. Either you fight now, or you just ain’t didn’t have sufficient forces, or sufficient votes, to stop Bush’s
certification. But, what we did know, was that if, in fact, wehuman any more. This is an opportunity to fight. It’s the
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Ohio Congresswoman
Stephanie Tubbs Jones (right)
on Jan. 6 made her historic
objection to the certification of
the Nov. 2 election, at a Joint
Session of Congress. She was
seconded by Sen. Sen. Barbara
Boxer of California (left).

forced the issue during the Joint Session, that the synarchists been put under, and that other U.S. Senators had been put
under, was absolutely excruciating. It was an outright thugwould be put on notice: That if they wanted to attempt a coup

against the Republic of the United States, that that coup would attempt to stop the debate. But the fact is, that the debate took
place. And it did crush the illusion of the Bush mandate.not be a cold one, and that they’d better be prepared for a fight.

And on Jan. 6, they got that fight. And Congressional
Democrats met Lyn’s challenge, and in an historic event A Revolution in the Democratic Party

And, the fact is, if we had a fight prior to Jan. 6, whatwiped out, once and for all, the illusion that George Bush had
a mandate. Barbara Boxer was the lone Senator, who endorsed happened after Jan. 6, was nothing less than a complete revo-

lution in the nature of the Democratic Party in the UnitedStephanie Tubb Jones’s call.
And I have to tell you, one of the things that we were told States. And there is also no question, that this was made possi-

ble by Lyn.afterwards, was once the Republicans had been informed that
Boxer was going to sign the resolution, which mandated a Where did they get the courage to do it? Well, one place

that they got the courage, was as a result of what Lyn didhalt to the certification process—for people who know the
procedure, and some people here know it, because you were on the Social Security fight. Because, from Nov. 9 on, we

wouldn’t let up on this issue. And what we identified, wasthrough it, but some don’t: Once a challenge like that has been
made, by a member of the House and a member of the Senate, that Bush’s plan to privatize Social Security was not about

privatizing Social Security: that it was about stealing thethe Joint Session is brought to a close. And the two Houses of
Congress have to convene separately for two hours of debate, money.

And we scandalized the fact, that the idiots around Georgebefore they reconvene in Joint Session.
When the White House was informed that Boxer was Bush—and they were idiots—. See, the point is, that when

you’re crazy and evil at the same time—and also stupid ongoing to sign the resolution, Dick Cheney, who as President
of the Senate would be presiding over the Joint Session, an- top of it—you make mistakes. And what these guys insisted

on doing—from the tactical standpoint, it was the stupidestnounced to the people gathered in the White House that he
wasn’t going to do it! As a matter of fact, the quote that we thing they could have done!—they kept insisting that model

for Bush’s privatization plan was the Chilean Model.were given, was, that his response was, “Fuck ’em! I have the
podium. I have the gavel. I’m going to rule it out of order.” Now, there were two things about the Chilean Model that

were important: One, is that was an abject failure, and that itNow, nuclear option is one thing, but this is very clearly
spelled out in the Constitution. And the White House lawyers thrust retirees in Chile into desperate poverty, and placed an

enormous burden on the Chilean government. Because peoplewent crazy! And they said, “No, look, you can’t do that. You
can do a lot of things, but you can’t do that. If you do that, who would normally have had access to retirement funds,

were instead forced onto the equivalent of welfare, in a devel-you will set off a Constitutional crisis, that even our Supreme
Court is not going to be able to see us through.” So Cheney oping sector country. That was one reason, why it was silly

to keep citing the Chilean Model. But, there was also anotherfinally relented, but you could see him fuming at the moment
that Barbara Boxer rose to endorse a resolution that had been reason, and that was the fact—which Bush and his friends at

the Cato Institute failed to tell people about—that the onlyraised by Stephanie Tubb Jones. And, we learned—not sur-
prisingly—but, we learned that the pressure that Boxer had way the Chilean Model was implemented, was on the heels
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places, to put the question of the Chilean Model on the table.
That morning, the New York Times came out with a front-
page story analyzing the Chilean Model, and everything in
that article, although it never mentioned Lyn’s name, came
directly out of our pamphlet. That evening, national ABC
News, in citing the New York Times article, introduced it by
saying, “borrowing a page from Lyndon LaRouche,” etc.,
etc., etc.

Now, when I heard that, I almost ran my car off the high-
way. Why? Because, it was the first time in two decades, that
I had heard LaRouche’s name in the national media, where
they correctly identified that his first name was “Lyndon.”
Even Lyn’s mother thought his first name was “Political Ex-
tremist”! And that his nickname was “Perennial Presidential
Candidate.”

While ABC was making its broadcast, an old Democratic
Party fighter, who doesn’t always observe the rules and who’s
a little unpredictable, by the name of James Carville, appeared
on “Crossfire.” And Carville was like an attack dog. He would
not stop! He was on there with [Robert] Novak, who kept
raising various questions about the emergency in this Social
Security fund, and Carville—who sometimes appears to be
autistic; he just repeats the same thing, over and over—he just
kept saying, “That’s not the question! I don’t want to talk
about that! What I want to talk about, is that you support
Pinochet. I support FDR. That’s the issue! That’s the only

The LaRouche PAC circulated 600,000 copies of this pamphlet on issue!” And James was right, that really was the only issue.
Bush’s Social Security privatization scheme, transforming the

I can’t impress upon people enough—remember it waspolitical debate in the country. The pamphlet is now in a second
just a short time ago, that this Democratic Party, under aedition.
different leadership, was insisting that if Democrats wanted
to win elections, and that if Democrats wanted to be a viable
party in the United States, that it was time to abandon theof a fascist coup! It took Augusto Pinochet, and the immediate

disappearance of approximately 50,000 Chileans, to imple- tradition of FDR. That Franklin Roosevelt had been dead
for decades, and it was time to drop it, and to move on!ment the Chilean Model in Chile.

And one of the things, that I would remind people of here, And look at what Lyn accomplished, in such a short period
of time!is that Bush and Cheney, ain’t no Augusto Pinochet. And this

ain’t no Chile! Following that Jan. 27 intervention, on Jan. 28, the Senate
Democrats held hearings, just as they said they would, onAnd by their action, the question was put on the table.

People had to choose, which tradition they wanted to follow, Social Security privatization. They carted out members, em-
ployees of the Social Security Administration, who had beenthe tradition of Augusto Pinochet? Or the tradition of FDR?

And that was what Lyn continued to hammer away at. forced to break the law, and lie, in an attempt to sell Bush’s
privatization plan. James Roosevelt, who was not only theWe put out 600,000 copies of the pamphlet that identified

Bush’s privatization plan as a “foot in the door to fascism.” grandson of Franklin Roosevelt, but who had also served in a
key post in the Social Security Administration as an adminis-And I tell you something, I don’t know how many members

of Congress actually read the entire pamphlet. But the cover trator during Bill Clinton’s Administrations, testified—and
put Bush on notice that he should stop using his grandfather’sof the pamphlet was sufficient to say it all. And, actually, if

people aren’t familiar with it, we can show you some over- name; but, also identified the lies that were being told by the
Bush Administration.heads just to remind you. But, it really did define the fight.

One Feb. 1, a strategy session was held by the people on
The Hill, who were coordinating the Social Security fight.Breakout of the Fight Against

Social Security Privatization And they adopted exactly the prescription that Lyn had in-
sisted upon: They stated unequivocally, that they would notAnd on Jan. 27, in what was really a delightful day, you

had a coordinated effort coming out of a couple of different be lured into proposing alternatives to meet a crisis, that did
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Senate Minority Leader
Harry Reid (right) led a
group of Senators in a
press conference at the
FDR Memorial in
Washington on Feb. 3,
upholding Roosevelt’s
Social Security program
against Bush’s drive to
dismantle it.

not exist, except for Bush’s planned thievery. And we should pulled this off. When you see up close, what these guys were
like four years ago, what they were like just prior to the Demo-be clear, that the crisis in the Social Security Fund that Bush

talks about, is a crisis that is only apparent, because of Bush’s cratic Convention, and what they were like on that day—it’s
enough to make you religious.intention to default, on trillions of dollars in Federal Treasury

bonds. Without a sovereign default of the United States, while There were other major developments that occurred that
also bore Lyn’s stamp. The remarks by Bill Clinton at thethere are problems in the fund that are caused by unemploy-

ment and underemployment in the United States, it’s really Davos meeting, where Clinton again raised the issue before
an international audience of the need for a new financial archi-nothing that can’t be dealt with.

Following that strategy session, the Democrats adopted a tecture. The remarks by Steven Roach at Davos; Bob Rubin
speaking in Washington, just prior to the G8 meeting. All ofpolicy of outreach to the U.S. population. They pledged to

hold town meetings in cities across the United States. Within a sudden, not only was the question of Social Security on the
table, but what was also on the table, was the fact that we werehours, Democrats who previously had been associated with

the Democratic Leadership Council, Bruce Reed and Gene facing a global financial crisis, and a potential meltdown of
the system. Rubin insisted, that if Bush pursued his policies,Sperling, who had indicated some wishy-washiness on this

issue and who had indicated that they were willing to “discuss that it would lead to a dramatic collapse of the dollar, and that
no nation would be left standing. Just before we met thisalternatives,” quickly changed their tune, and announced that

there would be no compromise and no discussion on this weekend, if people had any idea that Bush was going to back
off, the absolutely insane testimony of Alan Greenspan beforequestion.

On Feb. 3, Democrats from both Houses rallied on the the U.S. Congress made clear that they intend to pursue this
question.steps of Capitol Hill to stand up against privatization of Social

Security. And that afternoon, Senate Democratic Minority There are certainly other discrete instances that I can tell
you about. I very quickly glossed over the shift that’s takenLeader Harry Reid, and the chairman of the Democratic Sen-

ate Campaign Committee Charlie Schumer, marched from place. And certainly, there are shifts in other areas, as well.
But, I tried to give you a sense, in the course of my remarks, asCapitol Hill to the FDR Memorial, and invoking the spirit and

tradition of FDR, released a letter than had been signed by to how Lyn intervened with a specific focus, and unrelenting
focus, and how we came to where we are right now.leading Democrats in the Senate, putting Bush on notice, that

there would be no discussion, until he stopped lying.
After that, there really was no question, that Lyn had won LaRouche’s Indispensable Leadership Role

But, it does also put a question on the table: And that is,the argument, and that the Democratic Party with all of its
problems, with all of its wrinkles and blemishes, was operat- what is this Social Security fight really about? Because, I’ll

tell you, without Lyn’s intervention and without Lyn’s leader-ing as the party of FDR. It was virtually a miracle that Lyn
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ship—as good as it looks right now—if I had to bet, I would in fact, Democrats should not put up some stupid alternative
to Bush’s non-crisis. You can’t have a reasonable discussionsay that they would screw it up. Because, there’s a fundamen-

tal principle at play, which actually determines Lyn’s leader- with a liar. You have to call a liar, a liar, and smack them
hard, and tell them to stop lying! But, the fact of the matter isship on the battlefield. The fact is, that Lyn is making this

fight, not on the basis of dollars and cents, but on the basis of that by way of alternative, we do have to address the fact that
this nation is in a Depression. And that every aspect of socialthe principle itself. And on the argument that it’s the responsi-

bility of political leadership to uphold the Constitution of the services are threatened. And one of the things that Lyn is
proposing in various discussions, is that Democrats adoptUnited States, and the most important aspect of that Constitu-

tion is the commitment to “promote the General Welfare” for the equivalent of an Economic Bill of Rights, that sets the
standard, and identifies that first and foremost, the people ofourselves and for future generations.”

And what Lyn has insisted, and he’s insisted on this in the the United States will be protected above all else. And that
policies and programs that are adopted, will only be adoptedSocial Security fight, but he has insisted on this overall, is that

the issue is not each discrete point. The issue is not one of based on the implementation of that standard.
But the other issue, that we want to make clear—anddeciding appropriations, dollar by dollar, and nickel by

nickel. And if anything, that actually drags people down. That, again, this is the difference between Lyn and many of the
people who are engaged in this fight on Social Security—wewhat we have to do, first and foremost—we have to do it as

Democrats, we have to do it as political revolutionaries, we don’t just intend to stop Bush on privatization. What we intend
to do, is to bring this administration to their knees. And therehave to do it as Americans, and we have to do it as world

citizens: Is, we have to set a standard. And we have to say, is no task before us that is more urgent than that. This adminis-
tration is evil, it is insane; if they are allowed to, they willthat no matter what, we do not fall below that standard. That’s

what the principle of the General Welfare is. That’s what destroy the United States, and bring the entire world to war.
Do we want to stop the privatization of Social Security?our Constitution promises, and guarantees. And that is what

makes the United States unique in the world. Yeah, we do. And yes, we will.
But, we have to stop this fascist juggernaut. And we haveAnd one of the things that Lyn has talked about, and I

think he’ll talk about it more in the days to come, is, he’s to do the equivalent of rendering the Bush Administration a
lame-duck administration.talked about transforming the Social Security fight. Because,

That’s where we proceed from on this point. That’s the
way we continue the Social Security fight. We crush them,
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in order to pave the way, to allow Lyn to do what only he
can do: And that is, to begin to craft a new world order, for
this nation and for the other nations of the world, that actually
can lead us out of the darkness of this financial collapse,
into a period of prosperity. There is nobody else but Lyn,
who can do that. And it’s our responsibility to see to it, that
Lyn has the means and the manpower and the resources to
do that. And I really cannot emphasize, to the people gath-
ered here, enough, that it really is up to us, and it is up to
Lyn. There are good developments that have gone on—I’ve
identified some of them for you. But, please make no mistake
about it: These people are responding to Lyn’s leadership;
Lyn has made them better people. But, without Lyn, they
will fail.

So, when you go out to organize other people, don’t di-
minish our credibility by telling people what Harry Reid said,
or what John Conyers said, or what Chuck Schumer said, or
what this person said, or that person said. It’s irrelevant! These
people take counsel and authority from Lyn. And it’s Lyn’s
movement that will make the different in this fight—and no
one else’s.

And we are at a moment right now, which is a dangerous
one. But it’s also one in which we can actually do what Lyn
set out to do in this country some 35 years ago. And there
really is no moment, when it’s been more necessary than now.

Thank you.
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